IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NICHOLAS NEEDHAM,

Case No. S276395

Petitioner,

(DCA

Case No. G060670)

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY,

v.

(Orange County Superior Court Case No. M-16870)

Respondent,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Following the Published Opinion of the
California Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three,
Granting the Petition for Writ of Mandate/Prohibition
The Honorable Elizabeth Macias, Judge Presiding
Department C-38 [(657) 622-5238]

INTRODUCTION

"Our society uses trials to advance the search for truth."

(People v. Superior Court (Smith) (2018) 6 Cal.5th 457, 473.) In the prosecution of cases petitioning for commitment under the under the Sexually Violent Predator Act ("SVPA") (Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 6600 et seq.), that search for truth invariably leads to a trial involving a battle of the experts. In that battle, the People must prove beyond a reasonable doubt

¹ All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise noted.

that the alleged sexually violent predator ("SVP") should be committed because he is dangerous to society. At times, to meet their burden of proof, the People retain expert witnesses to conduct evaluations of the alleged SVP so experts can testify at trial that the SVP has a qualifying mental health condition and otherwise meets the statutory criteria as an SVP.

In Smith, this Court found that the People's retained expert can "assist ... in prosecuting the SVP petition[]" (People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 462, emphasis added) and can even "offer an opinion about the potential SVP's mental health. [Citation.]" (id. at p. 472). The only logical conclusion from this Court's decision in Smith is that the People can not only retain an expert witness, but can then present the expert's testimony at trial to explain why the person meets the SVP criteria. This reading of Smith is consistent with the legislative policy that SVP cases be tried on their merits, even when state evaluators no longer opine that the person is an SVP. (Reilly v. Superior Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 641, 655-656.)
Without retained experts, that policy could not be fulfilled

because the People must be able to present expert testimony to meet their substantial burden of proof.

Contrary to this precedent, the Court of Appeal in our case ruled that the People cannot call their retained expert at Nicholas Needham's trial on his SVP commitment petition. The Court of Appeal made no effort to distinguish this Court's opinions or its own opinion in *People v. Landau* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 1, wherein it held that it was not an abuse of the trial court's discretion to compel an alleged SVP to submit to a mental health examination on the eve of trial by the People's retained expert, who then testified at trial. (*Ibid.*) The lower court's opinion cannot be reconciled with this Court's prior ruling.

No case has ever held that the People are not entitled to use a retained expert at an SVPA trial. The Court of Appeal's ruling defies this Court's prior rulings and public policy. Consistent with this Court's decisions in *Smith* and *Reilly*, and the Court of Appeal's decision in *Landau*, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in this case and clarify that the People's retained expert can testify at trial.

QUESTION GRANTED REVIEW

DOES THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR ACT ALLOW THE PEOPLE TO RETAIN A PRIVATE EXPERT TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL AS TO WHETHER A DEFENDANT IS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR, OR ARE THE EXPERT WITNESSES LIMITED TO THOSE DESIGNATED BY THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF STATE HOSPITALS?

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 17, 2016, the People filed a civil action entitled "Petition for Commitment as a Sexually Violent Predator" pursuant to section 6602 against Nicholas Needham. The petition was supported by evaluations of Dr. Jeremy Coles and Dr. Michael Mussaco, who both found Needham met the criteria for commitment under the SVPA ("positive" evaluations). (Writ Petn., Exh. A, p. 6; Writ Petn., Exh. B, p. 31.)

In January 2018, upon issuing updated evaluations,

Dr. Coles opined that Needham no longer met the criteria as an

SVP (a "negative" evaluation). (Writ Petn., Exh. B, p. 32.) Given

Dr. Coles' change of opinion, two different evaluators, Dr. Korpi and Dr. Yanofsky, were assigned to evaluate Needham. (Writ Petn., Exh. B, p. 32.) Dr. Yanofsky submitted a positive evaluation and Dr. Korpi submitted a negative one. (Writ Petn., Exh. B, p. 32.)

In April, 2019, Dr. Yanofsky also submitted a negative evaluation, leaving the People with no experts to testify that Needham met the criteria as an SVP at trial. (Writ Petn., Exh. B, p. 32; Writ Petn., Exh. I, pp. 243.)

In July 2019, the People requested, and ultimately obtained, a protective order pursuant to *People v. Superior Court* (*Smith*), *supra*, 6 Cal.5th 457, 462, so that their retained expert, Dr. Craig King, could be provided with Needham's medical records for purposes of conducting an SVP evaluation. (Writ Petn., Exh. A, p. 17; Writ Petn., Exh. B p. 32.) On August 30, 2019, the court also issued an order authorizing Dr. King access to the Orange County Jail and Needham's medical records there. (Writ Petn., Exh., D, pp. 59-60.)

Dr. King met with Needham on September 6, 2019. (Writ Petn., Exh, B, p. 32.) Needham gave his signed consent to the interview. (Writ Return, Supporting Document 1, p. 48.)

Needham filed two motions to exclude Dr. King's testimony on September 23, 2019, (Writ Petn., Exh. E) and February 10, 2021 (Writ Petn., Exh. F). The People filed a response to the motions on February 24, 2021. (Writ Petn., Exh. B.) Needham filed a reply on March 2, 2021 (Writ Petn., Exh. G), and then a third motion to exclude Dr. King's testimony on June 1, 2021 (Writ Petn., Exh. H).

On July 7, 2021, the court collectively heard and denied all of Needham's Motions to Exclude Dr. King. (Writ Petn., Exh. I, p. 316.)

Needham filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate/Prohibition seeking to overturn the trial court's ruling on September 7, 2021. The petition was summarily denied by the Court of Appeal on September 30, 2021. Needham filed a Petition for Review with this Court on October 5, 2021. (Case No. S271210.) On December 15, 2021, this Court granted the petition and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal. After full briefing,

on August 8, 2022, the Court of Appeal granted the Petition for Writ of Mandate directing the superior court to vacate its ruling denying the motions to exclude the People's expert and to issue an order granting the motions. On September 15, 2022, the People filed a Petition for Review. On October 26, 2022, this Court granted review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented are purely questions of law which "are reviewed under the de novo standard of review. [Citation.]" (People v. Whaley (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 779, 792; see also People v. Galvan (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 846, 852.) Specifically, "[t]he meaning and construction of statutes are questions of law, which [the appellate courts] decide independently. [Citation.]" (B.H. v. County of San Bernardino (2015) 62 Cal.4th 168, 189; see also People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.) "[T]he construction of a statute is purely a question of law and is subject to de novo review on appeal. (People v. Zeigler (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 638, 650, 149 Cal.Rptr.3d 786.)" (People v. Faranso (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 456, 461.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR/ ACT'S STATUTORY FRAMEWORK.

The SVPA is designed to civilly commit SVPs who have specified sexually violent predatory convictions, a qualifying diagnosed mental disorder and are likely to engage in acts of sexual violence. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (a)(1).) The SVPA has built in procedural safeguards to ensure that only those who meet the SVP criteria are brought into the judicial process. Before a convicted sex offender may be subject to judicial proceedings instituted under the SVPA, the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("CDCR") conducts an administrative screening to determine if an inmate "may be" a sexually violent predator. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (a)(1).)

If the inmate meets that criteria, the inmate is referred to a secondary screening through the CDCR and the Board of Parole Hearings to determine whether the inmate has committed a sexually violent predatory offense and to review the inmate's social, criminal and institutional history. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (b).) The secondary screening is conducted in

accordance with a structured screening instrument developed by the State Department of State Hospitals ("DSH"). (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (b).) "The purpose of this evaluation is not to identify SVP's but, rather, to screen out those who are not SVP's." (People v. Medina (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 805, 814.) These administrative procedures provide the safeguards to ensure "meritless petitions" do not reach trial. (People v. Scott (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 1060, 1063.)

If, as a result of the screening, the CDCR determines that the inmate is likely to be an SVP, it refers the inmate to the DSH for a full evaluation of whether the person meets the criteria as an SVP. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (b).) The evaluation process requires that two psychiatrists or psychologists, or a combination thereof, evaluate the inmate to determine if the inmate meets the statutory SVP criteria. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (d).) An SVP is defined as

[A] person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense against one or more victims and who has a diagnosed mental disorder that makes the person a danger to the health and safety of others in that it is likely that he or she will engage in sexually violent criminal behavior.

(Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subd. (a)(1).) A

"Diagnosed mental disorder" [is defined to] include[] a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity that predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting the person a menace to the health and safety of others.

(Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subd. (c).) The determination as to whether the person meets the statutory definition requires the person be examined

"[I]n accordance with a standardized assessment protocol" that considers "diagnosable mental disorders, as well as various factors," including "criminal and psychosexual history, type, degree, and duration of sexual deviance, and severity of mental disorder," which factors are "known to be associated with the risk of reoffense among sex offenders." (§ 6601, subd. (c).)

(People v. Superior Court (Ghilotti) (2002) 27 Cal.4th 888, 910.) If both evaluators concur that the inmate is an SVP, the DSH must forward a request for a petition for commitment to the district attorney to be filed under the SVPA². (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (h)(1).) If the

² In Orange County, the district attorney has been designated to handle SVPA cases under section 6601, subdivision (i).

evaluations result in a difference of opinion, then the inmate is subject to further examination by two independent evaluators. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (e).) If both independent evaluators agree that the inmate meets the SVP criteria, DSH must refer the inmate for the filing of a petition for an SVP commitment. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subds. (f) & (h)(4).) If the independent evaluators do not agree, the inmate is released and no petition is filed. (*Ibid.*)

Copies of the evaluation reports and any other supporting documents are made available to the filing attorney. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subd. (d).) The district attorney makes the final decision as to whether to file the SVP petition based upon a review of the concurring evaluations and the supporting documentation. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subds. (d) & (i).)

The filing of the petition triggers a new round of proceedings under the Act. The superior court first holds a hearing to determine whether there is "probable cause" to believe that the person named in the petition is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior upon release. [Citations.] [Fn. omitted.] The alleged predator is entitled to the assistance of counsel at this hearing. If no probable cause is found, the petition is dismissed. However, if the court finds probable cause within the meaning of this section, the court orders a trial to determine whether the person is an SVP under section 6600. The alleged predator must remain in a "secure facility" between the time probable cause is found and the time trial is complete. [Citation.] [Fn. omitted.]

(Hubbart v. Superior Court (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1138, 1146-1147.)

To protect due process rights, the Legislature has granted the alleged SVP some safeguards "commonly associated with criminal trials[]" (Reilly v. Superior Court, supra, 57 Cal.4th 641, 648), including the right to a jury trial, the right to the assistance of counsel, the right to retain experts, and the right to have counsel and experts appointed if the alleged SVP is indigent (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6603, subd. (a)).

The People must prove that the inmate has a *current* mental condition that qualifies him as an SVP. (*Albertson v. Superior Court* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 796, 802.) Therefore, the SVPA

provides for updated or replacement evaluations from the DSH upon the People's request. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6603, subd. (d)(1).) If updated or replacement evaluations result in split opinions as to whether the individual meets the criteria for commitment, the DSH must obtain two additional independent evaluations. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6603, subd. (d)(1).) Contradictory opinions from evaluators do not require dismissal of the SVPA petition. (Gray v. Superior Court (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 322, 328; Reilly v. Superior Court, supra, 57 Cal.4th 641, 648.) The updated and replacement evaluations "are intended for informational and evidentiary purposes." (Gray v. Superior Court, supra, 95 Cal.App.4th 322, 328.)

The People have the burden to prove to a unanimous jury that the person is an SVP beyond a reasonable doubt. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6604; *Reilly v. Superior Court, supra,* 57 Cal.4th 641, 648.) As discussed further below, under *Smith* the People can retain an expert and the People's expert can review the SVP's confidential medical records to assist in prosecuting the SVP petition and to offer an opinion about the SVP's mental health.

II. THIS COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEAL HAVE ROUTINELY RECOGNIZED THE DISPOSITIVE ROLE OF EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY IN SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR ACT PROCEEDINGS.

This Court in People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457 acknowledged the critical role of expert witnesses in SVP trials. In Smith, this Court was asked to decide whether the People had the right to share an SVP's medical record with their retained expert. This Court found that they can (id. at p. 473), relying on the "'critical' importance of expert testimony in an SVP proceeding (People v. McKee (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1192, 104 Cal.Rptr.3d 427, 223 P.3d 566)" (People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 469.)

In Smith, this Court considered its prior opinion in McKee, in which it focused on the unique nature of the expert opinion in SVPA cases because it "involves a prediction about the individual's future [sexually violent] behavior[]" rather than an evaluation of past criminal conduct. (People v. McKee, supra, 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1192, superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in People v. McCloud (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 1, 14.) The

SVP evaluators form opinions not just on whether the individual has a qualifying medical condition, but also whether the person is a danger to others and likely to engage in acts of sexual violence. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subd. (a)(1).) Thus, having credible experts who competently present information to the jury is at the core of SVP trials. As such, this Court found that "the civil commitment trial usually turns on the quality and credibility of the expert witnesses and the extent to which their evaluations are persuasive. [Citations.]" (People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 471.)

Underscoring the significance of expert witnesses, Justice Goethals, in his dissent in this case, indicated SVP trial are like "battles of expert witnesses." (*Needham v. Superior Court* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 114, 130 (dis. opn. of Goethals, J.).) The description, previously suggested by this Court, is especially apt in SVP cases. (See *Cooley v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 228, 260 ["the probable cause hearing can be characterized as a battle of experts, some more credible than others[]"].)

Because of their predictive analysis and application of DSH standardized assessment criteria, experts guide the prosecution throughout SVPA proceedings. They are essential to the filing decision. More importantly, they provide the foundation on which SVPA commitments are based. Courts rely on experts to find cause to detain the alleged SVP under section 6601.3 pending the resolution of the petition, and to find probable cause to proceed to trial under section 6602. Jurors rely on experts to find a person to be an SVP and subject to commitment. Without prevailing in the battle of the experts, the People cannot meet their burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. THIS COURT'S OPINION IN SMITH
TACITLY APPROVED THE PEOPLE'S
USE OF RETAINED TESTIFYING
EXPERTS AT TRIAL WHEN IT HELD
THAT, IN ADDITION TO ASSISTING ON
CROSS-EXAMINATION, THEY MAY
ASSIST IN THE PROSECUTION OF THE
SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR
PETITION AND CAN OFFER OPINIONS
ABOUT AN ALLEGED SEXUALLY
VIOLENT PREDATOR'S MENTAL
HEALTH.

The Smith court described the various roles an expert plays in SVPA cases. This Court stated experts can assist with the interpretation and explanation of specialized information on which SVP evaluations are based so the prosecutor can effectively cross-examine defense experts. (People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 471.) But, this Court differentiated this consulting role from the expert's role in prosecuting the SVPA petition. The court explained,

The district attorney may then disclose those [medical] records to its retained expert, subject to an appropriate protective order, to assist in the cross-examination of the [DSH] evaluators or mental health professionals retained by the defense and, more generally, in prosecuting the SVP petition.

(People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 462, emphasis added.) The prosecution of the SVPA petition focuses

on the presentation of evidence by the People to meet their burden of proof.

This Court also differentiated another important function of the People's retained expert; namely that "an expert would also need to examine the relevant records to offer an opinion about the potential SVP's mental health. [Citation.]" (People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra, 6 Cal.5th 457, 471-472, emphasis added.) There must be a purpose to obtaining such an opinion. Because SVP trials are "battle of experts" where testimony is "critical," the only use the People have for a retained expert's opinion is to introduce that opinion before the jury at trial to prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, this Court has already acknowledged that retained experts can testify at trial.

The majority opinion in our case failed to understand this Court's decision and discussion in *Smith*, suggesting this Court's statement that the People's expert may review the SVP's medical

records "to offer an opinion about the potential SVP's mental health[] [Citation.]" was a "single line" that did not mean the People's expert could offer his or her opinion to the jury at trial. (Needham v. Superior Court, supra, 82 Cal.App.4th 114, 128.)

Justice Goethals, on the other hand, correctly understood this Court's opinion in Smith and the implications of the majority's flawed position when he dissented, stating:

To me the court's implication [in *Smith*] seems clear: a testifying expert may also access such records.

My colleagues acknowledge this language before dismissing its importance. "In context, we do not interpret this single line as an endorsement of the notion that the People may call a privately retained *testifying* expert." On this issue we may agree to disagree. But if their position is well taken, much of the *Smith* opinion becomes mere dictum.

(Needham v. Superior Court, supra, 82 Cal.App.4th 114, 130 (dis. opn. of Goethals, J.) emphasis in original.)

Indeed, in *Smith*, this Court stated that the People's retained expert can assist in "prosecuting the SVP petition."

(*People v. Superior Court (Smith), supra*, 6 Cal.5th 457, 462.)) As discussed above, the only way a retained expert can meaningfully assist the People in proving their case beyond a reasonable doubt

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