### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NICHOLAS NEEDHAM

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY

Respondent.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Real Party In Interest

No. S276395

Court of Appeal No. G060670

Orange County Sup. Ct. No. M-16870

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Following the published opinion of the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, granting the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in Orange County Superior Court Case No. M-16870, the Honorable Elizabeth Macias, Dept. C38 (phone: 657-622-5238)

### ORANGE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE

MARTIN SCHWARZ
Public Defender
LAURA JOSE
Chief Deputy Public Defender

### **INTRODUCTION**

In enacting the Sexually Violent Predator Act ("SVPA") (Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>1</sup> section 6600 et seq.), our Legislature "disavowed any 'punitive purpose[],' and declared its intent to establish 'civil commitment' proceedings in order to provide 'treatment' to mentally disordered individuals who cannot control sexually violent criminal behavior. The Legislature also made clear that, despite their criminal record, persons eligible for commitment and treatment as SVP's are to be viewed 'not as criminals, but as sick persons.' Consistent with these remarks, the SVPA was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless otherwise indicated.

placed in the Welfare and Institutions Code, surrounded on each side by other schemes concerned with the care and treatment of various mentally ill and disgabled groups." (*Hubbart v. Superior Ct.* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1138, 1171, internal citations omitted.)

The People<sup>2</sup> have no role in the commitment evaluation process under the SVPA. If the People need additional evaluations to "properly present the case for commitment," the People may request the California Department of State Hospitals ("DSH") to conduct updated or replacement evaluations. (§ 6603, subd. (d)(1).) Nothing in the SVPA authorizes the People to retain private experts to conduct evaluations and testify at trial that a defendant meets Sexually Violent Predator ("SVP") commitment criteria. The lower court correctly held that the People's use of such experts violates the SVPA's "carefully calibrated and limited procedure[s] to ensure that an extraordinary deprivation of liberty has as many safeguards as possible." (*Needham v. Superior Ct.* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 114, 127 (*Needham*).) The lower court's holding is consistent with precedent interpreting the relationship between the Civil Discovery Act and the SVPA; while the former generally applies to SVPA proceedings, it is subject to the specific provisions of the SVPA and a defendant's constitutional rights.

The People claim that because the Civil Discovery Act allows parties to retain and designate trial witnesses, the People can hire private experts to evaluate an alleged SVP and testify at trial that he meets commitment criteria. The People's position contravenes the plain language of the SVPA and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For purposes of this brief, "the People" refers to real party in interest, the

Orange County District Attorney's Office, and more generally to the prosecuting attorney in SVPA proceedings.

violates a key due process protection of the statute. The SVPA's reliance on neutral, independent experts, using a standardized protocol developed and overseen by DSH, is central to ensuring that the evaluations are as objective and accurate as possible. The People's privately retained experts are neither neutral nor independent. Rather, those experts are hired to present a specific opinion at the People's behest, regardless of what the evidence sanctioned under the statute might otherwise indicate.

The purpose of the SVPA is not to punish individuals for their past conduct. Rather, the purpose is to identify, confine, and treat those that are currently dangerous as a result of a diagnosed mental disorder. Neutral, independent mental health professionals are best equipped for this task—not the agency prosecuting the petition. Our Legislature placed careful limits on who conducts and controls commitment evaluations under the SVPA. Those limits are essential for realizing the non-punitive objectives of the statute and preventing an erroneous deprivation of liberty. The People's use of private experts to evaluate a defendant and testify at an SVP trial that he meets commitment criteria undermines the entire purpose of the SVPA and violates a defendant's due process right to a fair SVP trial. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeal's decision in this case.

### **QUESTION GRANTED REVIEW**

Does the Sexually Violent Predator Act (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600 et seq.) allow the People to retain a private expert to testify at trial as to whether a defendant is a sexually violent predator, or are the expert witnesses limited to those designated by the State Department of State Hospitals (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 6601 & 6603)?

### PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL HISTORY

On November 17, 2016, the People filed a "Petition for Commitment as a Sexually Violent Predator" under section 6602 in case number M-16870 against Nicholas Needham ("Needham"). Attached to the Petition for Commitment as an SVP were the evaluations of Dr. Jeremy Coles and Dr. Michael Mussaco.

On November 28, 2016, the Honorable Kimberly Menninger found that the Petition for Commitment as a SVP stated sufficient facts that, if true, would constitute probable cause to believe that Needham is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior upon his release. On May 14, 2018, the Honorable Kathleen Roberts made a probable cause finding pursuant to section 6602 that Needham is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior upon his release.

When the Petition for Commitment as an SVP was filed in November of 2016, both DSH evaluators, Dr. Coles and Dr. Musacco, opined that Needham qualified as an SVP. However, on January 31, 2018, Dr. Coles changed his opinion and found that Needham no longer met the legal criteria. Since Dr. Coles and Dr. Musacco had different opinions regarding Needham's status as an SVP, two new DSH evaluators were directed to evaluate Needham: Dr. Korpi and Dr. Yanofsky.

In 2018, Dr. Korpi opined that Needham did not meet the criteria for commitment as an SVP, while Dr. Yanofsky opined that he did. On April 21, 2019, Dr. Yanofsky changed his opinion and found that Needham no longer met the criteria of an SVP.

On June 3, 2019, the People moved to continue Defendant's trial in order to find and retain an expert. In July of 2019, the People informed the court that they had retained Dr. Craig King as an expert witness and requested a protective order so that the People could provide him with Needham's confidential records and interview him at the Orange County Jail. Needham objected.

Needham filed multiple motions to exclude Dr. King from testifying at trial about whether Needham met commitment criteria. On July 7, 2021, the Honorable Elizabeth Macias, heard and denied Needham's motions to exclude Dr. King as an expert witness for trial.

On September 7, 2021, Needham filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate/Prohibition, which was summarily denied by the Court of Appeal on September 30, 2021. Needham filed a Petition for Review with this Court on October 5, 2021, in case number S271210. On December 15, 2021, this Court granted the Petition and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal.

On August 8, 2022, the Court of Appeal granted Needham's Petition for Writ of Mandate/Prohibition, directing the trial court to vacate its ruling denying Needham's motions to exclude the People's expert witness and to issue an order granting the motions. On September 15, 2022, the People filed a Petition for Review, which this Court granted on October 26, 2022.

### POINTS, AUTHORITIES AND ARGUMENT

- I. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE SVPA DOES NOT ALLOW THE PEOPLE TO RETAIN PRIVATE EXPERTS TO EVALUATE AN ALLEGED SVP AND TESTIFY AT TRIAL THAT HE MEETS COMMITMENT CRITERIA.
  - A. The plain language and non-punitive objectives of the SVPA supports the lower court's holding that the statute does not permit the People to use testifying experts at trial to prove a person is an SVP.

The People argue that the Civil Discovery Act of 1986 (Code Civ. Proc., § 2016.010 et seq.), which authorizes parties to retain and designate expert trial witnesses, allows the People to use testifying experts to prove that a person meets commitment criteria at an SVP trial.<sup>3</sup> (Opening Brief, pp. 41-48.) The lower court correctly rejected this argument because it is inconsistent with the "carefully calibrated and limited procedure[s]" of the SVPA, which are designed "to ensure that an extraordinary deprivation of liberty has as many safeguards as possible." (*Needham, supra,* 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 127.) The People's interpretation of the SVPA contravenes the plain language of the statute and its non-punitive objectives to confine only those who are presently dangerous under specific statutory criteria.

The basic principles used by courts in construing statutes are described in *People v. Yartz* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 529, 537-538 as follows:

"In construing a statute, our task is to determine the Legislature's intent and purpose for the enactment. (*People v. Tindall* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 767, 772 [citations].) We look first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Specifically, the People argued in the trial court that section 2032.020 of the Code of Civil Procedure authorizes the People's expert to evaluate Needham. (Writ Petn., Ex. B, pp. 37-41.)

to the plain meaning of the statutory language, giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning. (*Ibid*.) If there is no ambiguity in the statutory language, its plain meaning controls; we presume the Legislature meant what it said. (*Ibid*.) 'However, if the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute.' [Citations.]"'

The language of the SVPA is clear: The People have no role in the commitment evaluation process; DSH evaluators reach findings on whether an individual meets the criteria for an SVP. (§§ 6601, 6603.) If the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation determines that a prison inmate is likely to be an SVP, the inmate is referred to DSH for a full evaluation. (§ 6601, subds. (a)(1) & (b).) DSH then designates two mental health professionals, either psychologists or psychiatrists, to conduct the evaluation. (§ 6601, subd. (d).) Those experts must evaluate the inmate in accordance with a standardized assessment protocol to determine whether he meets commitment criteria under the statute. In other words, the two experts must determine whether he is a person "who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense against one or more victims and who has a diagnosed mental disorder that makes the person a danger to the health and safety of others in that it is likely that he or she will engage in sexually violent criminal behavior." (§§ 6600, subd. (a)(1), 6601, subds. (c) & (d).)

If the two initial evaluators agree that the inmate is an SVP, DSH forwards a request to the county that imposed the inmate's sentence to file a petition for commitment. (§ 6601, subd. (d), (h)(1).) If the two evaluators, however, do not agree that the inmate is an SVP (i.e., split), the statute requires DSH to appoint *two* independent professionals to conduct further

evaluations. (§ 6601, subds. (e), (g).) The statute further provides that the independent professionals cannot be state employees and must have at least five years of experience diagnosing and treating mental disorders. (§ 6601, subds. (e), (g).) A petition for commitment may only be filed if both of the independent professionals agree that the inmate meets commitment criteria. (§ 6601, subds. (e), (g), (f).

Following the initial round of evaluations, the People can, under certain circumstances, request DSH to perform "updated" or "replacement" evaluations. (§ 6603, subds. (d)(1).) Section 6603, subdivision (d)(1) states:

If the attorney petitioning for commitment under this article determines that updated evaluations are necessary in order to properly present the case for commitment, the attorney may request the State Department of State Hospitals to perform updated evaluations. If one or more of the original evaluators is no longer available to testify for the petitioner in court proceedings, the attorney petitioning for commitment under this article may request the State Department of State Hospitals to perform replacement evaluations. When a request is made for updated or replacement evaluations, the State Department of State Hospitals shall perform the requested evaluations and forward them to the petitioning attorney and to the counsel for the person subject to this article. However, updated or replacement evaluations shall not be performed except as necessary to update one or more of the original evaluations or to replace the evaluation of an evaluator who is no longer available to testify for the petitioner in court proceedings. These updated or replacement evaluations shall include review of available medical and psychological records, including treatment records, consultation with current treating clinicians, and interviews of the person being evaluated, either voluntarily or by court order. If an updated or replacement evaluation results in a split opinion as to whether the person subject to this article meets the criteria for commitment, the State Department of State Hospitals shall conduct two additional evaluations in accordance with subdivision (f) of Section 6601.

Thus, section 6603, subdivision (d)(1) provides that the People can request updated or replacement evaluations if they determine its necessary to prosecute the petition or if one or more of the original evaluators becomes unavailable to testify. When the People make this request, DSH is required to perform the evaluations. (§ 6603, subds. (d)(1).) If an updated or replacement evaluation results in a split opinion as to whether the person meets commitment criteria, DSH must, again, appoint two psychiatrists or psychologists to evaluate the alleged SVP. (*Ibid.*) Additionally, the updated or replacement evaluations shall include review of available medical and psychological records, including treatment records, consultation with current treating clinicians, and interviews of the person being evaluated, either voluntarily or by court order. (*Ibid.*)

Accordingly, the SVPA provides that if the People need additional evaluations to prosecute the petition, DSH is required to perform the evaluations. The People assert, however, that in order to prosecute the petition beyond a reasonable doubt, they must be allowed to retain experts to evaluate an alleged SVP and present their opinion at trial. (Opening Brief, pp. 37-38.) The People's assertion is in direct conflict with the plain language of section 6603, subdivision (d)(1).

Section 6603, subdivision (d)(1) states that: "updated or replacement evaluations shall not be performed except as necessary to update one or more of the original evaluations or to replace the evaluation of an evaluator who is no longer available to testify for the petitioner in court proceedings." (Emphasis added.) In this case, the lower court correctly found that, "[t]he language "shall not be performed" is mandatory language that prohibits any replacement evaluations except on the terms specified in the statute. If the People could retain their own expert at that stage, they would essentially be

providing a replacement evaluation free of the restrictions the Legislature imposed in subdivision (d)(1)." (*Needham*, supra, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 126.)

The legislative history of section 6603, subdivision (d)(1) further supports the lower court's holding. Until 2000, the SVPA did not contain any provision addressing the People's right to obtain updated and replacement evaluations. Senate Bill No. 2018, which amended section 6603 to create subdivision (c),<sup>4</sup> was a response to *Sporich v. Superior Ct.* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 422, 426-427, superseded by statute as stated in *Albertson v. Superior Court* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 796 (*Albertson*), which held that the SVPA did not authorize the People to obtain updated and replacement evaluations. Consequently, the People were often forced to go to trial with stale evaluations. (*Albertson, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 802-803, 805.) The People in *Albertson* explained the need for updated evaluations as follows:

'[I]n order to get the best diagnosis of someone's mental condition, [the mental health evaluator needs] to speak to that person. We want the best information going to the jury because to ask the jury to commit somebody as a sexually violent predator based on an evaluation that's two plus years old or a year or more old is not the best information we can give to the jury. Unlike criminal cases or most civil cases where the facts are the facts and they don't change over time, mental condition can.'

(*Id.* at p. 800.)

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